**RECEIVED**

**Sep 30 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

*Certiorari to Greenville County*

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Plea Judge  
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No: 2022-001571

---

ANGELO HORACE TAYLOR,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Angelo Horace Taylor is presently imprisoned in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Greenville County Clerk of Court. During its February of 2018 term, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted him for murder (2016-GS-23-002378), possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2016-GS-23-002378) and attempted armed robbery (2016-GS-23-002379).

On September 18-19, 2018, Taylor proceeded to a jury trial. The Honorable Edward W. Miller (“the plea court”) presided. C. Carlyle Steele (“plea counsel”) represented Taylor at trial. Elizabeth Coble Major (“the solicitor”) of the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office, prosecuted the case. While the jury was deliberating,<sup>1</sup> Taylor entered guilty pleas pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), to involuntary manslaughter, and attempted armed robbery. In accordance with the plea agreement, the solicitor dismissed the weapon charge. The solicitor asked the court to impose a sentence of twenty-five years imprisonment. Plea counsel requested that the court sentence Taylor to time served and probation, indicating that Taylor had already been in custody for “a long time” (1019 days) by the time of trial. (*See App. 361-362 and 359*). Judge

---

<sup>1</sup> The jury deliberated approximately 2 hours, from 12:06 pm to 2:29 pm, before reporting to the court by note, “The jury is unable to reach a consensus.” (*App. 354*). Rather than give an *Allen* charge at that time, the judge merely requested the jury, by note, to “[p]lease continue to deliberate.” (*App. 354*). The jury continued deliberations for over another hour (2:33 pm to 3:52 pm) and sent out another note that they were deadlocked, though they had some agreement:

THE COURT: Okay, We’ve got a note from the jury that says that the jury is deadlocked - - I’m not going to tell you the number - - on two of the charges. So they made a decision on one and they are deadlocked on the other two.

(*App. 355*). The judge then gave an *Allen* charge over the defense’s objection that the charge would place undue pressure on the jury to agree and therefore the charge would be prejudicial to Taylor. (*App. 355-358*). The jury began deliberations again at approximately 4:04 pm. (*App. 358*). The plea occurred after the jury began deliberations again at this point. (*App. 358*). Sentencing concluded at 4:35. (*App. 363*).

Miller sentenced Taylor to imprisonment for twenty years for attempted armed robbery and five for involuntary manslaughter, both sentences running consecutively, and credit for time served. (App. 363). Taylor did not appeal his convictions or sentences.

Taylor filed his *pro se* application for post-conviction relief on August 9, 2019, raising multiple claims: (1) 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment; (2) 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment; and (3) Ineffective assistance of counsel.<sup>2</sup> (App. 404-410). On January 7, 2020, the State made its return to the application, moved for a more definite statement, and requested a hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel allegation. (App. 413-425). Taylor’s appointed lawyer, Susannah Ross Esq., subsequently filed an amendment to the application on March 13, 2020, and raised the following claims: (1) ineffective assistance of trial counsel for advising the applicant the attempted robbery was [a] charge that maxed out at 65% when it is an 85% charge; and (2) Due Process violations because the plea was not knowingly and voluntarily made due the applicant’s not understanding the maximum sentence he faced when he plead guilty. (App. 427).

An evidentiary hearing convened, via Webex before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. (“the PCR court”) on March 21, 2022. Taylor was present at the hearing and represented by Susannah Ross Esq. Assistant Attorney General Taylor Zane Smith of the South Carolina Office of the Attorney General represented the State. (App. 365). At the start of the hearing, counsel for Taylor clarified that it was Taylor’s position:

... that he did not realize he was, you know, facing an 85 percent charge with that attempted armed robbery and thought that it was being treated as a 65 percent charge. He didn’t realize it was a no-parole offense, which it was.

Also, just looking through the plea colloquy, I would argue there were due process violations under Pittman v. State and Rule

---

<sup>2</sup> In response to question eleven, which asks an applicant to state concisely the facts which support each allegation, Taylor indicated a memorandum of law was attached to his PCR application. (See App. 406). However, the State has no record or copy of such memorandum.

11 showing that the applicant didn't have a full understanding of the maximum sentence he could face when he pled guilty.

(App. 368, lines 16-25) (*See also* App. 385, "... our claims are limited to ... whether there were due process violations in the plea itself because it didn't comply with Rule 11 going through all the details that normally are in the plea colloquy and then the misadvising on the parole eligibility.").

Applicant testified on his own behalf at the hearing and the State called plea counsel, Mr. Steel. (*See* App. 366). At the end of the hearing, the PCR court took the matter under advisement. (App. 388). Judge Griffith subsequently issued an order on August 17, 2022, that granted relief and ordered the "sentence and convictions" be vacated, and the charges remanded to the court of general sessions. (App. 429-433). That order was filed with the Greenville County Clerk of Court on September 14, 2022, and hand-delivered to the parties by the Clerk on that same day.

On September 21, 2022, the State served a motion to alter or amend the judgment, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, requesting that the PCR Court alter or amend its findings as to the deficiency and prejudice prongs of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), and reverse its grant of relief to Taylor. (App. 436-441). The PCR court denied the motion in an order issued on October 1, 2022. (App. 485).

The State filed the Notice of Appeal on November 7, 2022, and subsequently filed its petition for certiorari and appendix on March 22, 2023. Taylor, through appointed counsel, filed the return on April 20, 2023. On May 9, 2023, our Supreme Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. This Court granted the State's petition on May 21, 2024, and ordered the parties to file the appendix and briefs as provided by Rule 243(j) SCACR. This additional briefing follows.

## PETITIONER'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

Michael Rosemond was working as the security guard supervisor at a registration desk at a hospital in Greenville County on December 5, 2015. A light-skinned black man in his early twenties, who Rosemond believed to weigh about 140 pounds, had run inside and yelled for help to bring his friend, Jermaine Cureton (“the victim”), inside. The man said that the victim had been shot. (App. 21-22). Rosemond helped the victim from the front passenger seat of a red Dodge sedan and into the emergency room. (App. 10, 20-21, 23-26, 142). The victim had been shot twice in his left side and had a shallow abrasion to the right side of his head. (App. 171, 188). The victim had also been accompanied by a dark-skinned black man in his early to mid-twenties who Rosemond believed to weigh about 215 pounds. (App. 22). Rosemond stayed outside with the two men to get more information from them while others took the victim inside the hospital. (App. 22). The light-skinned man appeared to be concerned about the victim’s welfare, but the dark-skinned man appeared nonchalant and instructed his light-skinned companion to “[s]hut the [fuck] up.” (App. 23). Rosemond called dispatch to report the matter and then saw medical professionals stop performing chest compressions on the victim and call his time of death. (App. 24). The victim’s cause of death was ultimately ruled a homicide by gunshots. (App. 199). The two men left the hospital to get the victim’s family and then later returned with some of the victim’s family members. (App. 25). Rosemond thought that the events took place before midnight and remembered that it had been dark outside at the time. (App. 25).

Jermaine McCombs, who was in prison at the time of trial for a probation violation, testified that he had known the victim since 2008 and that they had been friends. (App. 28-30). McCombs went by the nickname “Little Mane” and the victim went by “Big Mane.” (App. 29). On the night of December 4 or the early morning of December 5, the victim picked up McCombs

from his home in Greenville planning to buy liquor and also for the victim to sell marijuana to Devashio Brown, who went by the nickname “Doodoo.” (App. 31, 39). The victim was driving his red Dodge sedan. (App. 32). When they arrived at the West View apartment complex where Brown lived, it was late and dark outside. (App. 31). Brown got in the car and bought marijuana, and then left to get more cash because he was short. (App. 32). Two men, one of whom was Taylor, walked up to the car, and Taylor pointed a firearm at the victim. (App. 32-35). McCombs was able to recognize Taylor because his face was not covered and because he knew him prior to this interaction. (App. 35-37). He gave Taylor’s nickname as “A-Lo.” (App. 60). Taylor instructed the victim to “give it up.” (App. 36-37). McCombs did not know if the second robber was pointing a firearm, but he saw the victim and Taylor wrestle over Taylor’s weapon. (App. 36). When McCombs was trying to flee from the car, he heard at least two gunshots. (App. 38).

McCombs testified that he pushed the victim from the driver’s seat into the passenger’s seat so that they could go to the hospital. (App. 38). Brown came out to help and rode in the backseat of the car while McCombs drove. (App. 38).<sup>3</sup> McCombs and Brown dropped the victim off at the hospital and then left to alert the victim’s family members. (App. 38-40). He removed the marijuana and a firearm from the victim’s center console while at the victim’s family members’ home, although he testified that the victim had not had the weapon with him during the robbery and shooting. (App. 40-41, 55). He testified that he identified Taylor as the shooter while speaking with a law enforcement officer that night but backtracked on cross-examination to say that he told the officer that he was unable to make an identification because the shooter’s face was covered. McCombs admitted that his testimony on direct that he had told the officer that Taylor was the shooter had been false. (App. 42-45). He explained that he only told the officer that on the night

---

<sup>3</sup> McCombs also testified that Brown was the person driving them to the hospital. (App. 38).

of the shooting because the victim's family members had told him not to tell officers what happened because they wanted to make out extra-judicial justice on Taylor. (App. 44, 52, 55, 60). He testified that the officers had to "drag" the information out of him because they do not "tell on people" where he is from. (App. 49). He also denied that he had killed the victim. (App. 49). On re-direct, McCombs testified that he identified Taylor as the shooter when viewing photographs at the law enforcement center that night. (App. 60). He reiterated that "bad" things happen to people who give information to officers and said that he had been assaulted in the county jail just before coming to testify but said that Taylor had not been the one who had assaulted him. (App. 62-64).

Ashley Bohannon, who had had a child with the victim, testified that she had been with the victim on the night of his death. (App. 65). The victim, whose nickname she said was "Mane," dropped her off at her home and left in his red Dodge Avenger after he received a phone call. (App. 67). McCombs and Brown showed up later that night and told her that the victim had been shot. (App. 67). Brown did all the talking because McCombs was quiet and looked as if he had been crying. (App. 67).

Taylor's mother Angelina Williams testified at trial that Taylor had been living with her at the time of the shooting, but that he had not been home on the early morning hours of December 5. (App. 71-72). Taylor only arrived home at about 6:00 a.m. that day and then left again in a blue Mercedes with a man and a woman at about 11:00 a.m. (App. 72-73).<sup>4</sup>

Daishonique Lewis, who was in jail at the time of trial for unrelated and still-pending charges, testified that she used to date Eric Hill, who was Taylor's friend, and that she knew Taylor and knew that his nickname was "A-Lo." (App. 79-82). Lewis received a Facebook message from

---

<sup>4</sup> Williams testified outside of the jury's presence that the victim's mother had told her that she knew that Taylor did not kill her son. The plea court ruled that that testimony from Williams was inadmissible as hearsay. (App. 75-77).

Taylor at about 6:00 or 7:00 a.m. on December 5, in which he asked her to come pick him up. (App. 82). Taylor's cousin Alexis Smith was with her at the time. (App. 83). Lewis testified that she dropped Taylor off at her home, picked up her boyfriend from work, and then returned to her home. (App. 83-84). Taylor spent the whole day at her home and told her boyfriend that he had killed someone and needed to hide a gun. (App. 84). She testified that Taylor took a grocery bag from her kitchen and then went outside, after which he said that he had hidden his firearm in the woods and that he had washed his hands with a scrubbing kitchen pad to get rid of any trace of gunpowder. (App. 85-86). Lewis testified that she heard the water running when Taylor was in her kitchen. (App. 86).

On cross-examination, plea counsel elicited testimony from Lewis that she had written letters to an employee at the Solicitor's Office, in which she wrote that she would say anything to get out of jail; that she wanted a plea deal; that she would "flip" Taylor's case "around;" that she would instead help Taylor if the Department of Social Services took her baby from her; that she said that she would do whatever it took and begged for a deal; that she said that she would give the best testimony ever; and that she was happy that Taylor was in jail. (App. 89-98). On re-direct, Lewis testified that she had not yet been charged with anything when Taylor was arrested and that she gave a statement to officers on the night of Taylor's arrest saying that she had heard Taylor confess and that Taylor had hidden the firearm. (App. 104-05). She testified that she wrote the letters because she was upset and did not want to give birth while in jail. (App. 106-07).

Justus Robinson testified that Taylor's nickname was "A-Lo," and that he knew him from the streets. (App. 113-114). Robinson lived in the West View apartment complex and saw the victim in the parking lot in his red Dodge Avenger, with "Little Mane" in the car, too. (App. 114-117, 119). He testified that he knew that the victim dealt in marijuana and that he heard "give it

up” while he had turned his back on the victim to get cash to buy marijuana from the victim.<sup>5</sup> (App. 117). He testified that he ran away without looking back and thought that the victim was trying to rob him when he heard gunshots. (App. 117). He testified that he had not seen Taylor but recognized the voice as Taylor’s. (App. 117, 131, 133). When asked about a previous statement that he had given, he testified that he had seen Taylor walking around the victim’s car—with his face uncovered—just as he had been turning his back on the victim. (App. 118-19, 131). He saw Taylor walk up the driver’s side of the car and stand beside him while he talked with the victim. (App. 135-36). He did not see Taylor shoot anyone and estimated that there had been two to three minutes between his seeing Taylor and hearing the shots. (App. 131, 135). Robinson testified that he ran inside and then watched the victim’s car drive away; he did not tell anyone at the time about what he had witnessed because he feared getting into trouble himself. (App. 120). When officers later arrested him for the victim’s murder, he told them what had really happened and then pleaded guilty to misprision of a felony and is now on probation. (App. 122-126). He admitted under cross-examination that he had originally given false information to officers. (App. 127, 136).

David Paul Garrison, a detective at the Greenville Police Department, responded to the hospital on the night of the shooting. (App. 140). Det. Garrison testified that McCombs told officers initially that the robbers’ faces had been covered, but then identified Taylor as the shooter; the victim’s mother also named Taylor as the shooter. (App. 144-145, 172, 176, 181). McCombs had accurately described Taylor’s physical appearance before Det. Garrison showed Taylor’s photograph to him. (App. 151-52). McCombs identified Taylor as the shooter after Det. Garrison showed Taylor’s photograph to McCombs and had already done so before seeing the photograph. (App. 152, 165). Officers could not locate Taylor at his mother’s home that day, but she gave them

---

<sup>5</sup> Robinson drank alcohol and smoked marijuana the night in question. (App. 115, 121).

information about his use of social media that they were able to use to locate him and arrest him at Lewis's home. (App. 155-56, 167, 182-84, 232-34). Officers arrested Robinson based on information given to them by McCombs and Robinson denied that he had been at the scene at the time of the shooting, but Robinson later admitted that he had been there and said that he had seen Taylor shoot the victim. (App. 158-59, 164-65). They charged Brown with misprision to a felony because he had not come forward with information about the crime. (App. 160). Officers were able to locate a firearm behind Lewis's home wrapped up in a grocery bag but were unable to get DNA or prints from it, but they did match the projectiles from the victim's body to the weapon. (App. 161, 166-67, 171, 237, 263). McCombs' fingerprints were found on the exterior of the driver's side of the victim's car, but Taylor's were not. (App. 172, 213-14).

Taylor testified in his own defense at trial. He admitted that he had been present at the apartment complex when the victim was shot. (App. 274). He testified that he saw the victim and McCombs in the car and that McCombs pulled him aside and asked for him to return a firearm that McCombs had previously lent to him. (App. 274-75). He testified that McCombs tried to enlist his help in robbing the victim because McCombs felt that the victim was not looking out for him financially; Taylor testified that he declined McCombs' offer. (App. 275-76). He testified that McCombs put the gun to the victim's head and told him to "give it up," which the victim did not take seriously. (App. 276-77). He testified that he saw the victim and McCombs struggle over the gun and that Robinson shot into the car with his .357 magnum, and that McCombs shot twice, too. (App. 277). He testified that he followed Robinson into Robinson's apartment and that he saw Robinson with the .32 caliber and the .357 magnum weapons. (App. 278). Because Robinson, who he alleged was involved with gangs, threatened him and his mother and told him to get rid of the gun, he went to a friend's home and got a bag for the gun, went to his own home, then went to

Lewis's home, where he ditched the gun outside. (App. 279, 294, 299). He alleged that McCombs and Robinson had ambushed the victim because they thought that the robbery would be easy to carry out. (App. 289-90). He testified that McCombs took the victim to the hospital after the shooting because he had been friends with the victim. (App. 293). He denied that he had told Lewis that he had committed the crimes and explained that he had told her that others were saying that he had killed someone; he also denied that he washed his hands at Lewis's home. (App. 298-99). As noted above, Taylor pled guilty under *Alford* before the jury returned with its verdict. Taylor's statement at sentencing reflected:

That night, nobody intended for none of that to happen. I want to apologize to the family of the victim cause I didn't – I didn't kill nobody, but I understand how the law works.

(App. 363).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). A reviewing court generally will “defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” *Id.* However, the court will “review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Id.* at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that Taylor proved that plea counsel was constitutionally ineffective for giving inaccurate advice about Taylor’s parole eligibility because the court found that Taylor satisfied his burden merely because his testimony was not contradicted, which constituted a legal error and improperly shifted the burden to the State.

The PCR court found that Taylor met his burden of proof to establish that plea counsel was constitutionally ineffective. The court’s opinion rested on these findings and conclusions:

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