**RECEIVED**

**Oct 23 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

---

ANGELO HORACE TAYLOR,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001571

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

of action open to the defendant.’ ” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56, 106 S.Ct. 366 (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970)).

In Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Entering a guilty plea results in a waiver of several constitutional rights, therefore the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). The United States Supreme Court has held that before a court can accept a guilty plea, a defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he or she is waiving. Id. Specifically, a defendant must be aware of the privilege against self incrimination, the right to a jury trial, and the right to confront one's accusers. This Court considered the requirements of a voluntary and knowing guilty plea in State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980) and Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991). In addition to the requirements of Boykin, a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. Id.

In Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 138–39, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

“[T]he voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 133, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984). “When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, this Court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty pleas and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing.” Roddy, 339 S.C. at 33, 528 S.E.2d at 420. In considering an allegation on PCR that a guilty plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether any possible error by counsel was cured by the information conveyed at the plea hearing. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 165, 485 S.E.2d 367, 370 (1997).

In the present case the records of the Alford plea and the PCR hearing reflect that Respondent was not aware that the attempted robbery was classified as a violent offense and

required service of eighty-five percent of the sentence. The misinformation about sentencing was not cured during the plea colloquy. The guilty plea was rendered involuntary. There is a reasonable probability that, but for the erroneous sentencing advice, Respondent would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.

### **Deficient Performance**

The PCR judge correctly found that the plea was based on inaccurate sentencing advice from counsel. The Respondent met his burden of proof in showing deficiency. The PCR judge did not shift the burden of proof to the State. Instead, the PCR judge made a factual finding that Respondent's testimony that his plea was based on inaccurate sentencing advice from counsel was convincing writing, "As counsel's testimony did not contradict the Applicant, I find the Applicant's testimony that his guilty plea was based on inaccurate sentencing advice from counsel to be convincing." (App. p. 432). Respondent unequivocally testified that counsel advised him that he would only have to serve sixty-five percent of his sentence. (App. p. 371, 373). Counsel's testimony about his advice to Respondent, on the other hand, was less certain. Counsel testified, "I can't say we never had that discussion, but I can say I don't remember that discussion, and I don't believe we had that discussion." (App. p. 376, line 20 – p. 377, line 1). Counsel also testified that attempted armed robbery was "apparently" a no parole offense. (App. p. 377, lines 8-10). The PCR judge's factual finding that the plea was based on inaccurate sentencing advice from counsel is supported by the record.

In Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018) (n. 2 omitted), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013))

). We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014) ).

The PCR judge made a finding of fact that Respondent's testimony that he received erroneous sentencing advice was convincing. Petitioner argues that by stating that counsel's testimony did not contradict the Applicant's testimony, the PCR judge committed an error of law by shifting the burden of proof to the State. The factual finding by the PCR judge was not a burden shifting error of law. The PCR judge did not require the State to disprove Respondent's testimony. Respondent met his burden of proof. The PCR judge made a finding of fact, based on Respondent's convincing testimony, that the plea was based on the erroneous advice from counsel that attempted armed robbery<sup>6</sup> only requires the service of sixty-five percent of the sentence. There is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's factual finding that the plea was based on erroneous advice from counsel. The judge correctly made a finding of law that the erroneous advice constituted deficient performance.

Petitioner correctly notes that the PCR court was not required to accept Respondent's testimony that he received erroneous sentencing advice from counsel. (Brief of Petitioner p. 16). In this case, however, the judge accepted Respondent's testimony, finding the testimony to be "convincing." There is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's factual finding. This Court should uphold the deficiency finding of the PCR court.

---

<sup>6</sup>S C. Code §24-13-100 provides that a "no parole" offense means a class A, B, or C felony. Attempted armed robbery, S.C. Code §16-11-330(B), is a class C felony, S.C. Code §16-1-90(C), classified as a violent, most serious, no parole offense. S C. Code §24-13-150 provides that an inmate convicted of a no parole offense is required to serve at least eighty-five percent of the sentence.

## Prejudice

The PCR judge addressed prejudice writing, “As to the ‘prejudice’ requirement of the *Strickland* test, the Applicant’s uncontroverted testimony was that had he known the attempted armed robbery was an 85% charge, he would not have plead guilty and instead waited on the verdict of the jury that was actively deliberating at the time of his plea. This is the only evidence in the record on this point, and I find that it demonstrates prejudice to the Applicant. See Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (S.C. 1991).” (App. p. 433). In Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 97–98, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Petitioner testified he would not have pled had he known the charge was a felony. The PCR judge found petitioner's testimony was not credible. However, there was no evidence contradicting or conflicting with petitioner's testimony that would support the PCR judge's finding that petitioner would not have pled. In Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (1991), the PCR judge denied a petitioner relief when trial counsel erroneously advised the petitioner about his potential sentence prior to his guilty plea. We reversed and held the petitioner had satisfied the prejudice prong when “the only evidence in the record on this point [was] petitioner's own testimony that had trial counsel not misinformed him that he would face a potential life sentence if he proceeded to trial, he would not have pled guilty.” (citing Hinson v. State, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989) (new trial granted where incorrect parole eligibility advice induced plea)).<sup>2</sup> Here, the only evidence was that petitioner would not have pled had he known the charge was a felony. Thus, petitioner was entitled to PCR.

There was no adverse credibility finding to overcome in the present case as there was in Jackson. Respondent testified that he would not have pled had he known that any sentence for attempted armed robbery required service of eighty-five percent of that sentence. In footnote two the Court in Jackson wrote, “To the extent that Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996), can be read to hold that a petitioner's statement is insufficient evidence to satisfy the prejudice prong, it is hereby overruled.” 342 S.C. at 98, 535 S.E.2d at 927. Respondent only chose to enter Alford pleas when, at the conclusion of the trial and while the jury was still deliberating, the State agreed to reduce the murder charge to involuntary manslaughter. Plea counsel agreed that when

Respondent heard the murder charge was being reduced to involuntary manslaughter, he may have thought he was looking at close to time served as he had been in jail for over 1,000 days awaiting trial. (App. p. 383, line 24 – p. 384, lines 1-3). There is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge’s finding as to prejudice. This Court should uphold the prejudice finding of the PCR court.

Petitioner’s reliance on Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. 559, 681 S.E.2d 592 (2009), is misplaced as Stalk is factually distinct from the present case. In Stalk the allegation was that counsel was so unprepared that Stalk felt coerced into pleading guilty. The South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The Court of Appeals followed Hill when it engaged in a prejudice analysis and found no evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Stalk had met his burden. Stalk's prejudice claim rested on his assertion that his attorney was so unprepared that Stalk felt coerced into pleading guilty. We agree with the Court of Appeals that to meet his prejudice burden Stalk was required to prove more than the fact of counsel's inattentiveness, which is the “ deficiency.” For example, Stalk needed to present some evidence that had counsel done an investigation he would have found a witness or evidence that was helpful to Stalk, that is, something that would have affected counsel's advice to Stalk to accept the plea bargain offered or that would have caused Stalk to decline to accept it. Although appellate courts frequently “short-hand” the prejudice prong in a guilty plea ineffective assistance claim as “but for the deficient performance is there a reasonable probability that the defendant would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted on going to trial,” *Hill* makes clear that this prejudice prong ordinarily requires more than simply a defendant's assertion that but for counsel's deficient performance he would not have pled but would have gone to trial. We find no error in this portion of the Court of Appeals decision.

Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. at 562–63, 681 S.E.2d at 594–95. Stalk stands for the proposition that when the deficiency prong involves an allegation that counsel was unprepared or failed to investigate, the prejudice prong requires more than an applicant’s assertion.

The present case does not involve an allegation that counsel was deficient for being unprepared or failing to investigate. Instead, the deficiency prong in the present case involves erroneous sentencing advice. Jackson and Alexander stand for the proposition that when the deficiency involves erroneous sentencing advice, as in the present case, the prejudice prong is satisfied by applicant's assertion that, but for counsel's erroneous sentencing advice, the applicant would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. The PCR judge correctly found that the prejudice prong was satisfied by Respondent's testimony that that had he known the attempted armed robbery was an eighty-five percent charge, he would not have pled guilty and instead waited on the verdict of the jury that was actively deliberating at the time of his plea.

The present case is also distinguished from Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 726 S.E.2d 1 (2012), and Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 362, 745 S.E.2d 97, 103 (2013), because in both cases there was evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding that both failed to prove they would have gone to trial absent the erroneous legal advice. In Goins the Court found that the PCR court's finding that Goins chose to plead guilty after the State offered to dismiss two charges and recommend a ten year sentence was well supported by the record. "Although Goins testified at the PCR hearing that he accepted the plea because of the erroneous advice on the suppression of the evidence, his testimony specifically was found not to be credible." Goins, 397 S.C. at 575, 726 S.E.2d at 4. In Taylor the Court found that, "Despite Petitioner's assertions to the contrary, there is probative evidence in the Record before us that he would not have chosen to proceed to trial on the Georgetown County charges had counsel told him about the strike." Taylor, 404 S.C. at 362, 745 S.E.2d at 103.

In contrast, in the present case, Respondent chose to proceed to trial and only agreed to the Alford pleas when he believed he was close to receiving a time served sentence. There was no adverse credibility finding in the present case as there was in Goins. There is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's finding that if Respondent had known that attempted armed robbery required service of eighty-five percent of the sentence, he would have waited on a verdict. There is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's finding of prejudice under the second prong of Strickland.


In Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

In order to establish prejudice when challenging a guilty plea, a defendant must prove "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have gone to trial." Harden v. State, 360 S.C. 405, 408, 602 S.E.2d 48, 49 (2004). The crux of the inquiry is whether counsel's ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process, not whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial. Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 542, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991). As the United States Supreme Court stated in Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985), "[I]n order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial."

Respondent showed a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have waited for the verdict. The PCR judge correctly found that Respondent "... demonstrated a deficiency of Counsel in this matter which was not cured by the plea colloquy that gives rise to a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty. Therefore, he is entitled to post-conviction relief." (App. p. 433). The guilty plea was rendered involuntary by plea counsel's erroneous advice as to sentencing. Respondent is entitled to the relief granted.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the above argument this Court should find that the petition for writ of certiorari was improvidently granted, affirm the grant of relief by the PCR judge, and remand for a new trial.

  
\_\_\_\_\_  
Kathrine H. Hudgins  
Senior Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

This 23<sup>rd</sup> day of October, 2024.

RECEIVED

Oct 23 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Greenville County  
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

ANGELO HORACE TAYLOR,

RESPONDENT,

V.